FILED 03-22-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

No. 22AP1076

IN THE

Supreme Court of Wisconsin

ARTILLIS MITCHELL, Petitioner-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

CHRIS S. BUESGEN AND KEVIN A. CARR, Respondents-Respondents,

On Petition for Review from the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District IV, Affirming a Decision by the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable Susan M. Crawford, Presiding, Case No. 22CV1204

Petition for Review

Douglas M. Raines 1059539 Emily Logan Stedman 1095313 HUSCH BLACKWELL LLP 511 N. Broadway, Suite 1100 Milwaukee, WI 53202

Counsel to Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue I.

Was Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari timely under Wisconsin's tolling rules, when he both requested documents outside his control and mailed his petition to the Clerk of Court days before the 45-day statutory deadline, and the documents included with his petition established he had exhausted all administrative remedies? (The Court of Appeals answered "no.")

Issue II.

If tolling does not apply, was Mitchell's petition timely, when he both requested documents outside his control and mailed his petition to the Clerk before the 45-day statutory deadline, but the Clerk did not file the petition upon receipt and, instead, filed it after the 45-day deadline because the Clerk believed Mitchell had omitted certain exhaustion documents? (The Court of Appeals answered "no.")

Issue III.

If Mitchell's petition was not timely, was dismissal the appropriate remedy in these circumstances where the applicable statute, Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c), provides that the remedy for failing to include all statutorily-required exhaustion documents with a petition for certiorari review is denial of a request for fee waiver, not dismissal? (The Court of Appeals answered "no.")

CONCISE STATEMENT OF CRITERIA

A. A decision by this Court "will help develop, clarify[, and] harmonize the law," and "[t]he question[s] presented [are] novel one[s], the resolution of which will have statewide impact." Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2. *See infra* Argument I, II, and III.

B. A decision by this Court "will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law," and "[t]he question[s] presented [are] not factual in nature but rather [are] question[s] of law of the type that [are] likely to recur." Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)3. The questions presented are pure questions of statutory interpretation. *See infra* Argument I, II, and III. The questions presented are likely to recur, as prisoners continue to seek certiorari review of prison disciplinary decisions and issues of tolling and the appropriate remedy are continually invoked.

 $\mathbf{7}$

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns whether a prisoner's petition for writ of certiorari was timely filed and, if not, whether, in these circumstances, statute mandates denial of the prisoner's request for fee waiver, rather than dismissal.

Though it acknowledged the logical force of Mitchell's argument that his petition was timely, the Court of Appeals nevertheless affirmed the Circuit Court's decision that his petition was untimely. The Court of Appeals deemed Mitchell's petition untimely because, even though he submitted documentation with his petition that proved he had exhausted all administrative remedies, the applicable statutes require even further-yet extraneous-documentation regarding exhaustion, which the Circuit Court did not receive until after the 45-day deadline had elapsed. Wis. Stat. §§ 893.735(2)-(3), 801.02(7)(c). As the Court of Appeals intimated, such an application of the statutes and tolling rules is non-sensical not only because it needlessly punishes a petitioner who has in fact exhausted his administrative remedies, but also because it thwarts the spirit of the statutes, which is to ensure that all remedies are exhausted before a petition is filed.

Next, the Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of his petition. The Court of Appeals did so even though the applicable statutes—which the court observed "are not models of clarity"—provide that the appropriate remedy in these circumstances, in which the prisoner may not have included all statutorily-mandated exhaustion documents with his petition, is denial of the petitioner's request for fee waiver, not dismissal. Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c), (d).

This Court should accept review to develop and clarify the law with respect to these issues of statewide importance.

A prisoner may seek a writ of certiorari related to 1. prison or jail conditions if commenced within 45 days after the cause of action accrues. Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). Fortyone days after exhausting his administrative appeals of a prison disciplinary decision, Mitchell mailed a petition for writ of certiorari for filing. Mitchell included with his petition a request for fee waiver, which required him to include certain additional documents. Among the additional documents required to be filed if a prisoner requests a fee waiver is a certified copy of his or her trust account statement. But Mitchell did not possess a certified copy of that statement. He had to request that certified document from Stanley Correctional Institute ("SCI"), which he did seven days before the 45-day deadline. In these circumstances, common-law tolling applies, and Mitchell's 45-day deadline was tolled as of April 26, 2022, when he mailed his petition. State ex rel. Steldt v. McCaughtry, 2000 WI App 176, ¶ 17, 238 Wis. 2d 393, 617 N.W.2d 201; State ex rel. Walker v. McCaughtry, 2001 WI App 110, ¶ 16, 244 Wis. 2d 177, 629 N.W.2d 17. The 45-day deadline remained tolled on May 17, 2022, when the Clerk filed his petition and the Circuit Court granted his request for fee waiver. Id. Accordingly, Mitchell's petition was timely.

2. However, even if the tolling rules of *Steldt* and *Walker* somehow do not apply, Mitchell's petition still was timely. This is so because the Dane County Clerk of Courts held the petition and refused to file it upon receipt. The Clerk did so because, in the Clerk's view, Mitchell's petition omitted certain documents showing he had exhausted his administrative remedies. But the statutes do not grant the Clerk authority to refuse to accept any paper for filing on the basis that the Clerk believes not all papers have been received. *See* Wis. Stat. § 59.40(2)(a). Rather, the determination of whether the required documents have been submitted with a petition belongs exclusively to the Circuit Court. *State*

ex rel. Locklear v. Schwarz, 2001 WI App 74, ¶ 22, 242 Wis. 2d 327, 629 N.W.2d 30. The Clerk improperly held Mitchell's petition and filed it after the statutory deadline when he or she assumed the judicial role of determining whether Mitchell's petition included all documents pertaining to exhaustion of remedies. *Id.*; Wis. Stat. § 59.40(2)(a). Mitchell sent the additional documents to the Clerk of Courts one day after the Clerk informed him his petition required further documents requested from Mitchell and filed his petition, the 45-day statutory time period had elapsed (if the original deadline was not tolled).

The Circuit Court dismissed Mitchell's petition as untimely.

In a published decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed. Mitchell v. Buesgen, Case No. 2022AP1076, 2024 WL 720175 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 22, 2024) (hereinafter "Court of Appeals Decision") (Pet-Appx.0001-0026). Even though the Court of Appeals acknowledged the logic of Mitchell's argument that it was inconsequential that he did not include all statutorilyrequired exhaustion documents with his petition because he, in fact, had exhausted all administrative remedies, the court nevertheless concluded the absence of all exhaustion documents precluded the application of tolling in these circumstances. Id., ¶¶ 33-34.

3. The Court of Appeals also affirmed the remedy of dismissal of Mitchell's petition. This was error and contrary to the text of Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c), (d). While § 801.02(7)(d) authorizes the remedy of dismissal, § 801.02(7)(c), does not. Rather, § 801.02(7)(c) provides that where, as here, the prisoner has made a request for fee waiver, but may not have included all exhaustion documents with his petition, the remedy is denial of his request for fee waiver, not dismissal. Despite acknowledging that Wis.

Stat. § 801.02(7)(c), (d) "are not models of clarity," and that Mitchell's construction of the statutes is a plausible one, the Court of Appeals nevertheless concluded dismissal of Mitchell's petition was the appropriate remedy. *Court of Appeals Decision*, ¶¶ 39-40.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari relates to his challenge of a prison disciplinary determination. In September 2021, Mitchell was issued an Adult Conduct Report for violating the Wisconsin Department of Corrections ("DOC") inmate conduct rules DOC 303.43, DOC 303.44, and DOC 303.60. (Pet-Appx.0032.) Following a hearing, Mitchell was deemed guilty of two of the violations. (Pet-Appx.0033.)

Mitchell pursued every administrative remedy challenging the decision. He appealed the decision to Warden Chris S. Buesgen. (Pet-Appx.0047.) Buesgen affirmed the disciplinary committee's decision. (Pet-Appx.0050.) Mitchell then filed an Inmate Complaint with the Institution Complaint Examiner's Office challenging Buesgen's decision. (Pet-Appx.0041.) The same day, the Examiner's Office recommended the complaint be dismissed. (Pet-Appx.0039.) Mitchell appealed that recommendation to the Corrections Complaint Examiner. (Pet-Appx.0043.) The Corrections Complaint Examiner recommended dismissal of the complaint. (Pet-Appx.0059.) Finally, on March 16, 2022, the Secretary of the DOC dismissed the complaint. (Pet-Appx.0040.)

The March 16, 2022, date of dismissal of Mitchell's administrative claim—which constituted a final administrative decision—triggered the 45-day statutory deadline within which to file a petition for writ of certiorari in the circuit court. Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). Under the 45-day statutory deadline, Mitchell had until May 2, 2022, to file a petition for certiorari review: The 45th day fell on Saturday, April 30, so the deadline rolled to the following Monday, May 2, giving Mitchell a 47-day window within which to timely file his petition. Wis. Stats. §§ 801.15(1)(b), 990.001(4)(c).

On April 25, 2022, Mitchell requested from SCI a certified copy of his trust account statement, which is a document required for a circuit court's assessment of a prisoner's request for fee waiver due to indigency. (Pet-Appx.0061.)

On April 26, 2022—41 days after the Secretary dismissed his complaint, and six days before the May 2, 2022, deadline—Mitchell mailed to the Dane County Circuit Court his petition for writ of certiorari review of the Secretary's decision, along with the following other documents:

- A proposed writ of certiorari;
- A petition for fee waiver;
- An affidavit of indigency;
- An authorization to withhold money from his trust account;
- A Department of Justice (DOJ) certification indicating that he had not had three or more dismissals under Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(d); and
- Two exhaustion documents: the reviewing authority's decision and the Secretary's decision.

(Pet-Appx.0061.; see also Pet-Appx.0063.)

In his April 26, 2022 letter to the Clerk enclosing such documents, Mitchell informed the Clerk that he had requested a certified copy of his trust account statement, but that it "[might] arrive later then [sic] my filed certiorari and supporting document, due to the fact that it has to be sent out by the records office at Stanley Corr. Inst." (Pet-Appx.0065.)

On April 28, 2022, SCI processed Mitchell's request for a certified copy of his trust account statement. (Pet-Appx.0068-0069.)

On May 4, 2022—two days after the 45-day statutory deadline had elapsed—Mitchell received a letter from Dane County Clerk of Courts, stating that, in the Clerk's view, Mitchell had not included all the necessary exhaustion documents in his April 26, 2022, mailing. (Pet-Appx.0071; Pet-Appx.0082.) The Clerk's letter also stated that, due to the perceived omission, the Clerk declined to file Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari. (Pet-Appx.0082)

Mitchell responded immediately. On May 5, 2022, he mailed to the Clerk the requested documents. (Pet-Appx.0066; Pet-Appx.0079.)

On May 17, 2022—fifteen days after the 45-day statutory deadline had elapsed—the Clerk filed Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari. (*See* Pet-Appx.0031 (stamped "FILED May 17 2022").) The same date, the Circuit Court granted Mitchell's petition for a fee waiver. (*See* Pet-Appx.0029.)

On May 20, 2022, the Circuit Court dismissed Mitchell's petition, reasoning that its filing on May 17, 2022, was untimely. (Pet-Appx.0027-0028.)

In a published decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should grant review to clarify whether tolling applies in these circumstances where the documentation the prisoner submitted establishes he exhausted administrative remedies.

The Circuit Court and Court of Appeals erred in concluding Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari was untimely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). The 45-day deadline was tolled at the time Mitchell mailed his petition, and it remained tolled at the time the Clerk filed the petition on May 17, 2022.

Whether, at the time Mitchell requested a certified copy of his financial statement, the deadline for mailing his petition was tolled, and whether that deadline remained tolled when the Clerk filed the petition are novel questions of statewide importance that would benefit from this Court's review. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2.

a. Wisconsin Stat. § 893.735 "governs the time within which a prisoner may begin an action challenging a governmental decision or disposition." State ex rel. Johnson v. Litscher, 2001 WI App 47, ¶ 5, 241 Wis. 2d 407, 625 N.W.2d 887. This statute instructs that "[a]n action seeking a remedy available by certiorari made on behalf of a prisoner is barred unless commenced within 45 days after the cause of action accrues." Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). Such action "is commenced at the time that the prisoner files a petition seeking a writ of certiorari with a court." Wis. Stat. § 893.735(3).

The 45-day deadline may be equitably tolled in certain circumstances. Three rules of tolling, applied in conjunction with each other, render Mitchell's petition timely. These tolling rules pertain to: (a) the documents required when a prisoner seeks a fee waiver due to indigency, as Mitchell did here; (b) documents the prisoner has no control over and does not possess and, therefore, must request from prison authorities, as Mitchell did here; and (c) the time a circuit court takes to determine whether a prisoner is eligible for a fee waiver.

The first applicable tolling rule pertains to the documents required to be filed with a request for a fee waiver. Where, as here, a prisoner seeks to file a certiorari action without payment of ordinary filing fees due to indigency, the 45-day deadline is tolled upon the clerk's receipt of the following documents: the petition for writ of certiorari, the request for a fee waiver, the affidavit of indigency, and a certified copy of the prisoner's trust account statement. *Steldt*, 238 Wis. 2d 393, ¶ 17.

Here, on April 26, 2022, Mitchell sent to the Circuit Court all documents required for tolling under the *Steldt* tolling rule for fee-waiver requests, except one such document: a certified copy of his trust account statement. *Id.*; (Pet-Appx.0060-0062). But at that time Mitchell *did not have* a certified copy of his trust account statement. Rather, Mitchell had to request that document from SCI. As such, the previous day—April 25, 2022—Mitchell requested a certified copy of his trust account statement from SCI's business office. (*Id.*; Pet-Appx.0063-0065.)

SCI's control over the certified copy of Mitchell's trust account statement invokes the second applicable tolling rule: The 45-deadline is tolled "when the documents over which prisoners have control have been mailed, and *all of the documents over which prisoners have no control have been requested*." *Walker*, 244 Wis. 2d 177, ¶ 16 (emphasis added).

Thus, taken together, under the *Steldt* and *Walker* tolling rules, the 45-day deadline for Mitchell's petition for writ of certiorari was tolled on April 26, 2022 – six days prior to the May 2 deadline. This is because, as of April 26, 2022, Mitchell had mailed the documents in his control and had requested a certified copy of his trust account statement, which was a document outside his control. (Pet-Appx.0061; Pet-Appx.0065.) Moreover, in his letter to the Clerk of Court dated April 26, 2022, Mitchell specifically informed the Clerk that the certified copy of this trust account statement might "arrive later then [sic] my filed certiorari and supporting document, *due to the fact that it has to be sent out by the records office at Stanley Corr. Inst.*" (Pet-Appx.0065 (emphasis added).)

On April 28, 2022, SCI processed Mitchell's request for a certified copy of his trust account statement. (Pet-Appx.0068.) Thereafter, SCI sent the certified copy to the Circuit Court. The record does not reflect the date the Circuit Court then received that certified copy, but it is known that the Circuit Court, in fact, received that document from SCI because the docket reflects it was filed on May 17, 2022. (Pet-Appx.0027-0028.) The Circuit Court granted Mitchell's request for a fee waiver the same date. (Pet-Appx.0029-0030.)

In short, because SCI exclusively controlled the certified copy of Mitchell's trust account statement, Mitchell's request for that document on April 25, 2022, together with his mailing of his petition and accompanying documents the following day, tolled the 45-day deadline on April 26, 2022, under *Steldt* and *Walker*.

Finally, the question of the duration of the tolling period and whether Mitchell's petition was timely filed invokes the third applicable tolling rule. The third applicable tolling rule is the following: When a prisoner requests a filing-fee waiver on the grounds of indigency, as Mitchell did here, the 45-day deadline is tolled during the time the circuit court takes to determine the prisoner's eligibility for a fee waiver. *Steldt*, 238 Wis. 2d 393, ¶ 17; *Walker*, 244 Wis. 2d 177, ¶ 13. Here, the Circuit Court granted Mitchell's request for a fee waiver on the same date the Clerk filed his petition for writ of certiorari – May 17, 2022. (Pet.Appx.0027-0030.) Because the three tolling rules addressed here applied and tolled Mitchell's 45-day deadline from April 26 to May 17, when the Clerk filed his petition and the Circuit Court approved his petition for fee waiver, Mitchell's petition was timely.

b. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court's conclusion that Mitchell's petition was untimely. The Court of Appeals reasoned that Mitchell could not avail himself to tolling under *Steldt* because Mitchell did not submit all exhaustion documents required by Wis. Stat. 801.02(7)(c). *Court of Appeals Decision*, ¶¶ 30, 33-34.

In so concluding, however, the Court of Appeals acknowledged the logical force of Mitchell's argument that the omission of certain exhaustion documents from his initial mailing on April 26, 2022, is inconsequential. *Id.*, ¶ 33. Such omission is inconsequential for two inter-related reasons: (1) Mitchell mailed documents sufficient to evidence exhaustion on April 26, 2022, and he later mailed additional exhaustion documents immediately upon being prompted by the Clerk, (Pet-Appx.0061; Pet-Appx.0066); and (2) Mitchell had *in fact* exhausted all administrative remedies. (Pet.Appx.0027-0028.)

The Court of Appeals' analysis also acknowledges that the requirements in § 801.02(7)(c) can create confusion – confusion that review by this Court could alleviate:

There is logic to Mitchell's position insofar as Mitchell could not have obtained these [exhaustion] documents as they now appear in the record without having in fact exhausted all potential administrative remedies. . . [W]hen the terms of Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c) are considered as a whole [i.e., requiring prisoners to "initially submit more documents than those strictly necessary to prove exhaustion"], it could create confusion that the statute refers in part to the requirement that a prisoner submit "documentation showing that [the prisoner] has exhausted all available administrative remedies." Mitchell timely provided proof of exhaustion.

Court of Appeals Decision, ¶ 33 and n.2 (bracketed language quoting n.2 added; internal citation omitted).

The *Court of Appeals Decision* frustrates the purpose of the statutes requiring exhaustion documents. Those statutes are in place to ensure a petitioner has in fact exhausted all administrative remedies before mailing a petition. Here, Mitchell had, in fact, exhausted all administrative remedies when he timely mailed his petition. By requiring a petitioner to provide additional—but needless—exhaustion documents, the decisions of the courts below impose unnecessary administrative burdens on petitioners and courts alike. And by deeming his petition untimely for lack of extraneous exhaustion documents, the decisions of the courts below unduly punish Mitchell and contravene the spirit of the statutes.

Moreover, respectfully, the Court of Appeals' reliance on *State ex rel. Tyler v. Bett*, 2002 WI App 234, 257 Wis. 2d 606, 652 N.W.2d 800, in deeming tolling inapplicable is misplaced. *Court of Appeals Decision*, ¶ 31. *Tyler* is distinguishable because Mitchell, unlike Tyler, did not submit a partial fee with his petition. Rather, Mitchell sought a waiver of the filing fee. This distinction makes all the difference because Mitchell's request for a fee waiver triggered equitable tolling, which, for the reasons explained above, should be deemed to have remained in place until May 17, 2022, when the Circuit Court granted the request. As such, Mitchell did not display the "carelessness" that Tyler displayed and

which the court in *Tyler* was rightly loathe to reward. *Tyler*, 257 Wis. 2d 606, ¶ 16; *Court of Appeals Decision*, ¶ 31.

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