Filed 05-06-2024

### FILED 05-06-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2022AP1076

# ARTILLIS MITCHELL,

Petitioner-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

CHRIS S. BUESGEN and KEVIN A. CARR,

Respondents-Respondents.

## **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARLA Z. KECKHAVER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1028242

Attorneys for Respondents-Respondents

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-6365 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) keckhaverkz@doj.state.wi.us

#

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

The court explained that the "expansive, unqualified language" of the statute "on its face represents a legislative determination that a submission must timely include all such documents, not only those proving exhaustion-in-fact." *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶ 34. The court further explained that "[t]he apparent legislative intent is to require prisoners to provide the court with a complete picture of what occurred in the administrative process when a writ action is commenced and before a response is required from the respondent." *Id*.

While that is correct, there is another reason for requiring prisoners to submit *"all* of the written materials" from the administrative proceedings. Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c). Prisoners are required to exhaust *each* issue raised in their petition for writ of certiorari at *every* available administrative

level to obtain certiorari review of that issue.<sup>4</sup> The court, therefore, must review the documents from every level of administrative review—not only the final administrative decision—to determine whether a prisoner properly exhausted his administrative remedies as to each issue raised.

Mitchell next argues that the court of appeals improperly relied on Tyler. (Pet. 18–19.) But as the court of appeals recognized, the facts in *Tyler* are a "close[] match to the facts here." *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶ 31. Tyler, like Mitchell, sought to file a petition for certiorari review of a prison disciplinary decision. Tyler, 257 Wis. 2d 606, ¶ 3. He mailed his petition before the 45-day time limit, but his submission did not include the full filing fee and "all documents provided by the administrative agency." Id.  $\P$  5 (citation omitted). The court of appeals concluded that Tyler was not entitled to tolling from the date he mailed his petition because the documents he mailed "did not constitute a complete and proper submission to the court." Id. ¶ 15. To hold otherwise, according to the court, would be contrary to the purpose of the tolling rule and would incentivize incomplete pleadings:

[T]o allow Tyler the benefit of tolling for the period after he submitted an incomplete petition and an insufficient fee, would be to reward his carelessness by giving him extra time to remedy matters that were within his control, which is contrary to the rationale

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "[A] prisoner may not obtain certiorari review of [a prison disciplinary action] until the [agency] completes review of any claimed procedural errors." State ex rel. Smith v. McCaughtry, 222 Wis. 2d 68, 70, 586 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1998) (emphasis added), modified in pt., State ex rel. Hensley v. Endicott, 2001 WI 105, ¶ 13, 245 Wis. 2d 607, 629 N.W.2d 686; see also Pozo v. McCaughtry, 286 F.3d 1022, 1024 (7th Cir. 2002) (To exhaust administrative remedies, the inmate must "properly" pursue "each step within the administrative process.").

for the tolling rule. Indeed, if the rule were that tolling applies to any submission, no matter how inadequate, an incentive would be created for prisoners to intentionally submit insufficient materials in order to gain additional time to submit proper petitions, thereby circumventing the forty-five-day deadline the legislature deemed adequate to accomplish the task.

## *Id.* ¶ 16.

Mitchell argues that because he, "unlike Tyler, did not submit a partial fee with his petition" and instead "sought a waiver of the filing fee," Mitchell "did not display the 'carelessness' that Tyler displayed and which the court in *Tyler* was rightly loathe to reward." (Pet. 18–19.) That does not distinguish *Tyler* from this case. What the court was concerned about was not Tyler's failure to submit a full filing fee on its own, but rather the fact that he failed to submit items that were "within his control," including administrative documents. *Tyler*, 257 Wis. 2d 606, ¶ 16.

Mitchell has no way around *Tyler*. The petition Mitchell mailed on April 26, 2022—like the petition Tyler mailed—did not include all the administrative documents required under Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c). He later submitted the missing documents, but that cannot "cure defects" in his initial submission. *Tyler*, 257 Wis. 2d 606, ¶ 14.

Mitchell's submission on April 26, 2022, was incomplete and that is not "inconsequential" for the purposes of tolling. (Pet. 17.) Mitchell was not entitled to tolling from the time he mailed his petition until the case was filed, and his petition was, therefore, untimely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). The court of appeals' decision was correct and requires no clarification by this Court.

# II. There is nothing novel about the conclusion that the circuit court is responsible for determining whether a certiorari action is timely.

Mitchell alternatively argues that "[e]ven if tolling somehow does not apply, [his] petition still was timely" because "[t]he Clerk exceeded his or her statutory authority by holding his petition instead of filing it upon receipt." (Pet. 19.) Mitchell contends that the "Clerk's unauthorized action in this regard—and not any act or omission by Mitchell—caused Mitchell's petition to be filed after the May 2, 2022, 45-day statutory deadline." (*Id*.)

The court of appeals appropriately rejected this argument. *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶¶ 35–36. The clerk did not cause the dismissal. Even if the clerk had filed the case immediately, that would not have saved Mitchell's case from dismissal. The act of filing cannot cure defects in a prisoner's submission. Tyler, 257 Wis. 2d 606, ¶ 14. Whether a prisoner certiorari action is filed immediately because the prisoner paid the fee, or later after the court grants a fee waiver,<sup>5</sup> the court still must review the case and determine if it was timely under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2), which requires application of the various tolling rules to the facts of the case. Here, the circuit court was required to assess whether Mitchell was entitled to tolling from the date of his initial mailing on April 26, 2022, until the date of filing. Mitchell was not entitled to tolling during that time because his initial submission was incomplete, and the missing documents were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Prisoners, like all litigants, must either pay the filing fee or be granted a fee waiver to commence a civil action. *See* Wis. Stat. § 801.02(6) ("Fees payable upon commencement of a civil action shall be paid to the clerk at the time of filing."); Wis. Stat. § 814.29(1m) (prisoner fee waiver); *Shimkus*, 239 Wis. 2d 327, ¶ 9 ("In Wisconsin, however, civil actions are not commenced until the applicable filing fee is paid... unless payment is waived by the court for cause shown.").

not received until after the statutory deadline. Filing the case immediately could not have cured that defect.

As the court of appeals succinctly put it: "Mitchell fails to come to grips with the dispositive point in this case: the circuit court had the responsibility, under Wis. Stat. \$ 893.735(2), to decide whether the submissions were timely—regardless of anything the clerk did or did not do." *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶ 36. That is not novel, and Mitchell does not even disagree with the point. (Pet. 21.) He simply disagrees with the circuit court's (and court of appeals') conclusion that his petition was untimely. Nothing about this issue warrants this Court's review.

# III. It is well-settled that dismissal is the appropriate remedy for an untimely filing.

Mitchell argues that even if his certiorari action was untimely, dismissal was not the proper remedy. He contends that the only appropriate penalty for his failure to submit the required administrative documents was denial of his fee waiver request, not dismissal of his certiorari action. (Id. at 22–24.) Mitchell further argues any such omission was harmless error because he had in fact exhausted his administrative remedies. (Id. at 24.) The court of appeals properly rejected both arguments, and neither argument merits supreme court review.

# A. Dismissal is the appropriate remedy when failure to submit administrative documents results in an untimely filing.

Mitchell focuses on the last sentence of the paragraph requiring submission of administrative documents, Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c): "The court shall deny a prisoner's request to proceed without the prepayment of fees and costs under s. 814.29(1m) if the prisoner fails to comply with this paragraph or if the prisoner has failed to exhaust all available administrative remedies." He contends that this language means that denial of his fee waiver request was the exclusive remedy for his failure to submit the required administrative documents. (Pet. 22–23.)

Mitchell argues that his reading of the statute is "supported by comparing the alternate remedies authorized by Wis. Stats. §§ 801.02(7)(c) and § 801.02(7)(d)." (*Id.* at 23.) Wisconsin Stat. § 801.02(7)(c) mandates denial of the prisoner's fee waiver request when he fails to include proof of exhaustion with his initial pleading, whereas subsection (7)(d) mandates dismissal of the case when a prisoner seeking a fee waiver has three strikes. Mitchell argues that this is proof that the Legislature intended denial of the fee waiver request to be the exclusive remedy for failing to submit proof of exhaustion. (Pet. 23.)

The court of appeals rejected this argument, explaining that "Mitchell's argument is plausible if one's attention is limited to the two sentences that he highlights," but his "narrow focus . . . misses the mark" when viewed in the context of "controlling precedent" and "closely related statutes." *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶¶ 37, 40.

Starting with the statutory language, the court of appeals explained that the last sentence of Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c) does not state that denial of the fee wavier is the only consequence for failing to submit administrative documents with the initial pleading. *Id.* ¶ 42. "Instead, when properly construed, that sentence merely identifies dismissal of a petition for prepayment waiver as one consequence because additional remedies are understood from context." *Id.* 

Under Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(c), prisoners are required to submit administrative documents *whether they seek a fee waiver or not*. In other words, if a prisoner pays the filing fee, the administrative documents are the *only* documents he is required to submit with his petition. Because administrative documents are required whether the prisoner seeks a fee waiver or not, subsection (7)(c) explicitly states that denial of the fee waiver request is an appropriate penalty.

The three strikes certification under Wis. Stat. § 801.02(7)(d), in contrast, is required only if the prisoner seeks a fee waiver. It follows that subsection (7)(d) does not explicitly state that denial of the fee waiver request is the penalty for failure to provide those documents because that penalty is axiomatic.

While denial of the fee waiver petition is an action the circuit court can take when a prisoner fails to submit either type of documentation, the court can also dismiss the case if the prisoner's omission of required documents results in an untimely filing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). If that were not the case, there would be no remedy when a prisoner who pays the filing fee fails to submit administrative documents, which are required whether the prisoner seeks a fee waiver or not.

Under the relevant dismissal statutes. is an appropriate remedy when a prisoner fails to *timely* submit the required documents, including administrative documents. That conclusion is further supported by case law. In *Tyler*, for example, the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's dismissal of Tyler's certiorari action as untimely when Tyler failed to submit administrative documents with his initial submission and, therefore, was not entitled to tolling. Tyler, 257 Wis. 2d 606,  $\P\P$  15, 21. In addition to *Tyler*, the court of appeals cited several other cases where the court reached similar conclusions. *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶ 41 (citing State ex rel. Locklear v. Schwarz, 2001 WI App 74, ¶ 22, 242 Wis. 2d 327, 629 N.W.2d 30, and Walker, 244 Wis. 2d 177, ¶ 12). This case law "leaves no room for Mitchell's position." *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶ 40.

Just as dismissal was the appropriate remedy in previous cases, so too was it the appropriate remedy here. The court of appeals agreed, based on its reading of the relevant statutes in context and well-settled case law. No clarification of that decision is needed.

# B. Failure to timely file a certiorari action is not subject to harmless error analysis.

Mitchell argues that his failure to timely file his certiorari action should be disregarded as harmless error. (Pet. 24–25.) He explains that his "initial omission of certain exhaustion documents [wa]s harmless because [he] *in fact* exhausted all administrative remedies before filing his petition for writ of certiorari." (*Id.* at 24.) There was no harmless error here, and Mitchell's argument to the contrary provides no reason to grant review.

Mitchell's harmless error argument is simply another version of his argument that his omission of administrative documents was "inconsequential," which Respondents addressed above, *supra* at 11–13. If Mitchell could evade the statutory filing requirements because he "*in fact* exhausted all administrative remedies" (Pet. 24), Wis. Stat. §§ 893.735(2)'s time limit and 801.02(7)(c)'s requirement that prisoners submit "all of the written materials" relating to administrative review "[a]t the time of filing the initial pleading" would be meaningless. Mitchell's failure to submit documents under his control with his initial mailing resulted in an untimely filing under Wis. Stat. § 893.735(2). That is not harmless and dismissal was the appropriate remedy. This Court should deny the petition for review.

# ALTERNATIVE GROUND SUPPORTING RESULT

While it is Respondents' position that this Court should deny the petition for review, if this Court grants the petition, it should also address this alternative ground supporting the result in the court of appeals.

In a footnote, the court of appeals rejected the Respondents' argument that Mitchell's petition was untimely for another reason: he did not request his trust account statement from the prison until just days before the statutory deadline and, therefore, he missed the deadline due to his own conduct and was not entitled to tolling. *Mitchell*, 2024 WI App 14, ¶ 34 n.13. The court concluded that Respondents provided no authority for the proposition that a request for documents made before the 45-day deadline can or must be deemed "too late" for the purposes of equitable tolling. *Id*.

That decision is contrary to the purpose of equitable tolling. Tolling is meant to remedy situations when a prisoner's certiorari action is untimely because of a government authority's failure to promptly mail or provide documents. See State ex rel. Nichols v. Litscher, 2001 WI 119, ¶ 26, 247 Wis. 2d 1013, 635 N.W.2d 292. Tolling "addresses only the disability inmates are under in meeting statutory filing deadlines because they must rely on the actions of others, who are beyond their control, in submitting necessary documents to the court." Tyler, 257 Wis. 2d 606, ¶ 20. Thus, tolling does not apply to a litigant who is responsible for his own untimely action. See Walker, 244 Wis. 2d 177, ¶ 24 (explaining that tolling does not apply when prisoner misses the filing deadline "due to his own dilatory conduct" in requesting documents after the deadline). If tolling applied under the circumstances presented here, for example, prisoners could simply wait until the 45th day to request all the documents not under their control in order to gain additional time to submit those documents. This is not how tolling is intended to operate. See id. ¶ 18.

The court of appeals conclusion on this issue—while not affecting the outcome of the appeal—was incorrect and warrants review by this Court if the petition is granted.

# CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review.